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FOREWORD


by The Rt Hon. Sir Rabbie L. Namaliu KCMG MA MP,
 Senior Minister for State, Papua New Guinea



IT IS A PRIVILEGE to be asked to write a brief foreword for Bill Gammage’s remarkable book on the Hagen-Sepik Patrol and the people it met. I was one of the first, pioneering Preliminary Year students at the University of Papua New Guinea in 1966, and Bill taught us history. In 1973, after I came home from university studies in Canada, Bill and I taught PNG History together at UPNG.

In this excellent book, Bill has drawn on his exceptional memory, his thirty years of learning about people and places in Papua New Guinea, a determination, even stubbornness, in tracing elusive information, and outstanding writing and disciplinary skills. This book will certainly become a classic of post-colonial literature.

Bill’s work also adds greatly to our appreciation of how our country joined the wider world, and of how rich, how diverse, and how precious the history and culture of our nation is. It ought to encourage us all to seek out more knowledge and more understanding of the exploration of Papua New Guinea, and the culture and traditions of our peoples.

Bill’s work comes at a vital time in Papua New Guinea’s development. Sadly, the importance of tradition and culture in our nation has been in decline for some time. Want of respect for both traditional leadership and contemporary authority is contributing to a serious breakdown in the very bases of our society. Works like this should encourage each and every one of us to learn from strong traditional values, to respect our heritage and culture, and to work together to honour our forefathers and build a nation of which they would be proud.

I commend to readers Bill’s comprehensive and incisive work. I hope the interest that it is bound to create will encourage Bill and other distinguished writers to contribute even further to what we know of Papua New Guinea’s past, and thus to our road to the future.

10 March 1998
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Abbreviations




	(A)DO
	(Assistant) District Officer




	AIF
	Australian Imperial Force




	(C)PO
	(Cadet) Patrol Officer




	NC
	Native Constable




	PNG
	Papua New Guinea







Glossary




	bants
	on patrol, a rope or fishline fence marking camp boundaries



	bilum
	string net bag



	bossboi
	foreman



	dama
	spirit (Huli)



	girigiri
	money cowrie, Cypraea sp.



	kanaka
	New Guinean with no or little contact with European ways



	kapiak
	lowlands breadfruit, Artocarpus altilis




	karuka
	
Pandanus: cultivated, P. julianettii; wild, P. brosimos




	kaukau
	sweet potato, Ipomoea batatas




	kiap
	magistrate, government officer



	kunai
	grass; blady grass, Imperata cylindrica




	kina
	goldlip mother of pearl shell, from Melpa kin




	luluai
	government-appointed village official



	mambu
	friend (Huli)



	marita
	pandanus fruit, edible



	masta
	white man



	mek pepa
	make paper—sign a work contract



	pitpit
	tall canegrass, in the Highlands notably Miscanthusfloridulus, karka, Saccharum robustum or edible Setaria palmifolia Phragmites




	sarif
	length of hoop iron used to cut grass



	singsing
	dance, usually with feast



	tambarin
	spirit, ghost



	tambu
	1. to forbid, forbidden; 2. nassa shell, Nassarius sp



	tangket
	
Cordyline fruticosa; Dracaena sp, croton, coloured leaf plants



	taro
	
Colocasia esculent a, edible



	tee
	exchange network (Enga)



	tok pies
	local language



	wantok
	person speaking the same language, friend. Not used in 1938-39.



	yar
	Casuarina oligodon






Measures




	1 foot (ft)
	0.3 metre



	1 yard
	0.91 metre



	1 mile
	0.6 kilometre



	1 acre
	0.41 hectare



	1 ounce (oz)
	28.35 grams



	1 pound (lb)
	454 grams



	1 ton
	1016 kilograms






NOTE: A few 1938 names have been changed to more recent spellings, for example Kowuwu to Kobubu, Chimbu to Simbu, Sjerni to Siane, Gai to Lai, Li-ink to Leinki. Otherwise Jim’s spelling has been preferred.


INTRODUCTION

ONCE UPON A TIME, Papua New Guinea Highlanders believed that the sky was inhabited by beings in many ways like themselves, who traded, made love and war, and believed in gods. Highlanders varied on whether the sky people were ancestral ghosts or spirits, but most agreed that they were immortal, had wealth, caused thunder, lightning, rain and drought, could take human form and were then usually red or white and, although not much interested in people, occasionally descended to earth.

They were not the only supernatural beings. Sky, earth and underworld held spirits, a hierarchy of deities up to the Creator, and ancestors of different powers depending on when, how and at what age they died. Many beings could take human form, although skin colour or strange or ignorant behaviour might give them away.

When in the 1930s Highlanders first confronted foreigners, they used theology to try and fit them to the order they knew. Some thought the beings were dead relatives returning. In 1933 a woman claimed Porti, who was prominent on the Hagen-Sepik Patrol, as her son. Others, including many Huli and Min, thought them spirits. But most commonly the travellers’ wealth, planes, wireless, guns and sometimes white or red skin suggested that they were sky people, perhaps refugees from a sky battle, wandering the earth below, landless and womanless, seeking a place to settle.

Europeans tend to assume that supernatural beings are largely beyond human control. They divide the world into the known and therefore natural, and the unknown and therefore supernatural. They know so much, they think, that what they do not know is not natural. They consign spirits, fairies, witches and the like to realms outside nature and reason, and thereby beyond believing and control.

Except sometimes for God and saints, if supernatural beings exist Europeans can do little to influence them.

Highlanders do not think that. Spirits and ancestral ghosts have great power and sometimes much malevolence, but there is no uncrossable gap between natural and supernatural. Each righdy balances the other; if either fails in a duty the other is bound to offer correction. With the right knowledge most beings can be trammelled. Like people they can be generous, trusting, venal or stupid, and so appealed to, flattered, bribed, fooled or made friends of. Europeans assumed that Highlanders who treated travellers as unearthly therefore thought them powerful and inviolate. They thought being supernatural gave them protection. At best that was only briefly so. Highlanders quickly sought to discover what the travellers were—men, ghosts, spirits or deities—in order to control them. On that depended their well-being, even their lives. Endlessly and universally they asked the newcomers, “Who are you?” That came from clansmen seeing their first white, from carriers on exploring patrols, from village officials, mission helpers and plantation workers touching the European world. The answer mattered because the correct rituals for control depended on it. Amazement, doubt and fear there was at contact, but these only passingly deflected a search for control.

This is a story of one group of sky people and the Highlanders they met. It is a story of the longest patrol in PNG history, which left Mt Hagen in the western Highlands on 9 March 1938 and returned there on 19 June 1939. In the fifteen months and three thousand kilometres between, the patrol explored the high country west to the border of Netherlands New Guinea, sometimes cutting the track of previous explorers, sometimes breaking ground new to outsiders. The patrol was the last major expedition in Australia’s and PNG’s history, and the last of the great European explorations which began with Diaz 450 years before.

More than 350 people, all but five of them men, joined all or part of the patrol. They were led by ADO James Lindsay Taylor, supported by PO John Russell Black, medical assistant Callaghan Baird Walsh, known as Pat, and from time to time POs Ian Fairley Graham Downs, Murray Stanley Edwards and Lloyd Pursehouse. Though not all at once, the patrol employed thirty-eight New Guinean police, called “coastal” though some were from the mountains of Morobe or Manus: the European discovery of the Highlands made all else in New Guinea coastal or island. There were also a dozen cooks and servants whom the Europeans employed privately, five Highlands police wives, perhaps three hundred carriers from the narrow east-west corridor of contact between Bena Bena and Hagen, and about fifteen men or boys who joined the patrol during its journey. For them all, the patrol was an adventure, a test and an opportunity.

Their journey was of minds as well as bodies. All contact between people, even of the same culture, involves both discovery and self-discovery. This patrol obliged those who travelled and those they met to re-think what they believed and what they wanted. The New Guineans on the patrol, themselves still feeling the shock of the new, were familiar both with change and with traditions which put their futures in their own hands. They had to try to understand and shape events which changed elusively. The Europeans began confident that they knew what mattered about meetings between peoples. Time after time events corrected them. At each correction they adjusted, concluding that whereas before they had not understood, now they did. At length a succession of such adjustments challenged their sense of innate superiority, and forced them to question what defined civilisation. The people the patrol met, the Enga, the Huli, the Duna, the Min, the Ipili and the Hewa, had also to re-think what defined civilisation, for the patrol shook their confidence profoundly, upsetting their notions of power, control, wealth and the limits of the physical and spiritual worlds.

All these were journeys from which there was no return. Worlds both met and were created on the Hagen-Sepik Patrol.

The journeys were not the same. Some people learnt more than others, and differences in perspective divided white from black and travellers from those they met. Explorers intend to discover, move in time and space to do it, and travel per-manentiy expectant. Discovery is first geographical, then intellectual, then belatedly cosmological. This was particularly so of whites: police and carriers, with no notion of maps, were more vague about where they were, and more familiar with what they saw Yet all travelled the road of revelation, moving further and further from the world which sent them and awaited their return until, as in war, the world they knew best was the world they shared. For the people met, discovery was first cosmological. The patrol simply arrived, with no obvious purpose and little or no warning or explanation. Heralds Europeans might notice—new plants, new diseases, disrupted trade links, even planes—might not be connected with the sudden force of approaching beings. But because religion was a means to control the supernatural—more a technology than a cosmology—people quickly made discovery intellectual. Finally, sometimes long after the travellers told of the world beyond and took them to see it, they made it geographical.

The story spans all these journeys, but not equally Contemporary writing outweighs later memories of men and women, black and white. The writing is European, largely about how whites perceived New Guinea and New Guineans. Jim Taylor was a copious note-taker, a gifted imaginative writer, and a very capable observer whose final patrol report was 501 typed pages, the longest in PNG history. John Black wrote the frankest explorer’s journal I know of, in two large bank ledgers written at night from notes taken by day. Ian Downs wrote detailed and competent reports.

The writing provides a chronology of the patrol, and brings to life both its authors and some New Guineans they led and met. Using interviews, the story also attempts to represent New Guinean memories of the patrol. The most striking of these picture the ineradicable moments of contact, and like the written records depict how people made sense of momentous events.

My writing too conforms to that need to make sense of the past, but also attempts to portray events and values as they seemed at the time, because the first task of history, as of life, is to understand. Without that, none can hope to learn what makes us human or, less importandy, to survive the judgement of the future. No doubt some readers will think what is written unfair, either too gentle or too harsh, too structured or too confused.

The book was difficult to write, because friends, including those named in the dedication, died during it, and because it was not easy to match European written accounts with New Guinean memories collected half a century later. Europeans could be certain that on this date they were in this area, but not what place, or exacdy where it was. New Guineans could state which route a patrol took and where it camped (this is how patrols are conventionally distinguished), but not precisely when this was, nor how many men or white men the patrol had—not, in other words, which patrol it was. Both might be certain they are discussing an area’s first outsiders but in fact be describing a later patrol—Europeans because they do not know the routes of predecessors, New Guineans because when the first patrol came they were elsewhere.

The difficulty was exemplified when locating patrol routes and camps, which until now have not been put on a modern map. Sites New Guineans showed me usually matched those calculated from records. Sometimes people could show me where men had stood, where tent poles had been, where rubbish thrown, where toilets built. But this very precision reinforced my difficulty when written and oral accounts seemed to conflict. Were people describing another patrol, or something this patrol’s accounts do not mention?

I have tackled each problem of this kind on its merits. Obviously I think I have matched written and oral accounts correctly, but I include information I think probably matches and exclude information I think probably does not. Interested researchers should test rather than accept the conclusions I offer.

Finally, I make clear my respect for most of those on the Hagen-Sepik Patrol, who whether lifted by personality or events were above the ordinary, and for most they met, who demonstrated with what courage and resilience people can meet earth-shaking events. In particular I state my admiration of Jim Taylor and John Black. They would have graced public service anywhere. The peoples of Australia and PNG are luckier than they know that men so outstanding should have dedicated themselves to making first contact between them.




1 JIM




MAGNIFICENT country isn’t it? Ye-es. I came here in 1933. We went along the ridges then, where the tracks were, and the food. No-one lived down here. In the Wahgi people lived in the valley, but here most of the trees had been destroyed in war and people lived on the ridges for safety. Not that they were a fearful people. No. They were a proud, no-nonsense people. A feudal people, but not a peasantry. They owned their land, and fought their own wars. They were an aristocracy. Ye-es. A wonderful people.



1974. Jim Taylor gazes at the past and the distance, eyes crinkled, quiet, well modulated cadences playing on key words. He is overweight but strength can still be seen. He is romantic, pragmatic, self-reliant, decisive. He values friends and prefers to trust people, but recalls the past diffidently, knowing that some will not understand. He is a good story-teller, a courteous host, a courtly companion. He became a king in these valleys, but long ago returned his crown gladly.

The wide valley sparkles. Bright green kunai sheens slope and spur, its sharp tang on the cool breeze banishing the sweet scent of coffee flowers nearby. Red earth splashes, light dances on sandy rivers. Casuarinas signpost kaukau mounds, bananas, coffee, neat croton hedges. Smoke seams from thatched roofs. Distant ridges rise to a towering forest rim, clouds clutch far peaks. It is among the world’s most beautiful scenes. Jim never tires of it. ‘Magnificent isn’t it?’, he declaims, his arm sweeping the valley. Into such beauty he led in 1938–39 the last of Europe’s great exploring expeditions. Land and people he conquered, and they bewitched him. Now he was a contented captive, with family and kin, an honoured place in Highlands legend, coffee plantations, gold workings at Porgera, an unmatched record of action and an undimmed interest in his adopted country’s affairs. His life had been an odyssey, a great journey of discovery and self-discovery, and he lived now in a world which, more than any man, he created.

Chivalry and adventure were his heritage. His parents, George Henry Taylor and Harriette Carter, from well-to-do Bristol wine and tea families, eloped when Harriette was eighteen, and married in London on 22 March 1894. In 1895 and 1897 children were born and died; on 21 November 1896 a son, Jason, was born. George fell ill, chose Australia to recuperate, and the family arrived in Sydney on 31 December 1899. George got work as a city accountant and moved his family to a pleasant bungalow at 34 (later 28) Read Street, Bondi, now Waverley. Early in 1901, fearing a premature birth, Harriette went to St Margaret’s Hospital, Alexandria. There on 25 January James Lindsay Taylor was born. George chose the first name, after the baby’s maternal grandfather. The Taylors had four more children—Terence who died at three months, Kathleen in 1906, Rosemary in 1908, and Barbara in 1910.

The household was Victorian. Despite frequent illness father was head of house and table, children were to be polite, helpful, seen and not heard. They were to study their lessons and go to Sunday school at St Mary’s Church of England, Waverley. Harriette had her family’s flair for the stage—a brother was a song writer, a sister an actress. Jim often learnt by declaiming, sweeping his arms extravagantly, exhilarated by tales of action and soaring ideas. His learning was imperial, literary and chivalric: Shakespeare, Scott, Burns, Keats, Coleridge, Tennyson, Macaulay. All his life he read widely and sprinkled his talk and writing with allusions. ‘Magnificent’, he would add, ‘Ye-es.’

Australia began at the front door. At Bondi Public School Jim learnt easily, and though not a keen pupil matriculated comfortably to Sydney Technical High School in 1914. He preferred outdoors. He played baseball and spent hours roaming bush and headland or in the surf catching “shoots” into the beach. He became a very strong swimmer, winning his Bronze Medallion in May 1916, aged fifteen. He and a friend once made a boat from a tin tub and took it to sea, but it sank and the lads had a long swim home. That would have suited both Jims—the strong, resourceful Australian boy, and the chivalrous young knight questing for adventure.

In August 1914 came a serious quest: war in Europe. Jason enlisted on Jim’s birthday, 25 January 1915, by May 1916 was a sergeant in 55 Battalion, and on 19 July was killed at Fromelles, aged nineteen. Jim mourned the waste of his brother, sixty years later naming an adopted son after him. George died on 12 May 1916, making Jim man of the house. On 2 March 1917 his best mate, Dick Hills, enlisted. T will go with you’, said Jim, grandly. His mother was an Empire enthusiast, but recoiled from letting him go until the misery on his face broke her. On 22 March, his parents’ wedding anniversary, Jim joined Dick as a cyclist battalion reinforcement. He was sixteen. In France Dick transferred to the engineers and was mortally wounded by a shell on 7 February 1918, aged seventeen. Jim joined 34 Battalion, entered the front line on 21 March 1918, was bruised on the back by a shell splinter on the 31st, rejoined on 11 May, was gassed near Ville on the 27th, rejoined on 27 June, and was withdrawn to AIF HQ in London on 14 October, after his battalion quit the front for the last time.

Most soldiers endured much more, but the chronology masks seven months of horror for the boy. He was shelled, gassed, starved, put into trenches with putrid bodies and parts of bodies. He saw a generation flung over the fields of France, killed soldiers forever to friends and future. He fought the great German offensive of March-April 1918, at Hamel on 4 July, and in the decisive August 8 attack, when his battalion cleared Accroche Wood on the Somme. He helped make the last advances of the war, which reduced even the victors to exhaustion and their clothing to rags. He spoke of the war rarely and wrote of it only once, though that was telling: at Wabag on 8 August 1938 he noted simply, ‘Twenty years ago today.’ His silence signalled his scars—the only other hint of them was the clear-sighted realism which ever after chaperoned his chivalry.

In London in 1919 the AIF gave him his army pay and his fees for matriculation science and maths at King’s College, London University. He passed in October, went home in November, was demobbed on 23 January 1920, and enrolled in science at Sydney University. He did well in swimming and baseball, but in December failed a subject and thus the year. He re-enrolled in 1921 but did not proceed. Instead came his ‘hungry days’. He lumped steel at Adams’ foundry in Botany, worked in a chocolate factory, and sold newspaper advertising, but got no steady work. That made him resent how returned soldiers were treated, and edged him away from his mother’s political conservatism.

Not until 1923 could he get regular work. On 7 September he joined the police, and in November went on the beat at Redfern. He would walk from Bondi on grass to strengthen his ankles, then patrol local streets among people even poorer than he. Told to find a debtor, he would knock at the house and ask, ‘Is Mr X here?’ ‘No, he’s down the street.’ ‘I don’t want to know where he is—he’s not here.’ After a year he was made a clerk in the Detectives Office at Sydney CIB. There, early in 1926, Sergeant Dudley told him of a police job going in New Guinea. Jim jumped at it.

He sailed on Melusia on 22 September 1926. On board for the slow, pleasant voyage were miners, planters and officials with romantic tales and grim warnings, and new chums curious about becoming masters in a tropical colony. In Rabaul Jim was promoted to warrant officer but in February 1927 resigned to go to Salamaua, headquarters of Morobe District, its thin peninsula bustling as the Edie Creek gold rush hit stride. There he joined the Department of District Services as a patrol officer.

This department, from October 1932 the Department of District Services and Native Affairs, was responsible for discharging Australia’s main obligation to the League of Nations, to civilise the people of New Guinea. It was the core of Australia’s colonial administration, with powers and prestige above all other departments, even Treasury. Its members spoke of it as the “New Guinea service”, as though it were all the administration, or all that mattered. Its best officers could combine swashbuckling adventures with innovative policies, but its hierarchy was as rigid as any in Australia’s public service. Under its director were ranked district officers, assistant district officers, patrol officers and cadet patrol officers. All were called by a name taken from New Guinea pidgin, kiap.

The New Guinea service would be Jim’s life and ideal for twenty-three years. He began at Salamaua, patrolling uncontacted areas in the tough mountains around Mt Lawson on the Papuan border, and with his DO, S. S. Skeate, on the upper Watut west of Wau. The Watut was the country of people outsiders called Kukukuku, a no-nonsense scattering of clans skilled in ambush and resentful of intrusion. Europeans thought these tiny men the most dangerous in New Guinea. No doubt the ‘killers in bark cloaks’ reciprocated: after his patrol with Jim, Skeate was reprimanded for burning huts. Jim admired Kukukuku frankness and fearlessness. He also admired Skeate, but a feeling that New Guinea cultures were worthy and should not be changed arbitrarily began to tug at his assumption that Europeans had a duty to civilise the globe.

In April 1928 he was made Inspector of Police Rabaul, to clean out police taking bribes from Chinese gamblers—in return he was probably promised promotion as a kiap. He accepted two police resignations and reorganised the force, and felt he had it in hand when he went “south” on leave late in 1928. Thus he missed the momentous events of January 1929 when, led by New Guinean police, Rabaul’s “native” workforce struck for more pay. The strike’s unexpectedness and efficiency blinded Rabaul’s whites to its moderation and they hounded the strikers remorselessly, sentencing the leaders to three years prison. Jim was a little uncomfortable about such treatment. He had tasted hardship’s bitter bread, and he had seen New Guineans in bush communities, proud and resilient rather than merely the servants most Europeans saw. He worked hard to restore native police morale, and became known, usually not approvingly, as ‘both humane and sympathetic to the native people’.

In 1930 he was gazetted ADO, but remained Inspector of Police Rabaul until January 1931, when he went on leave to London. In May he was made acting DO Sepik, where his POs included Keith McCarthy, a great patrolling kiap. ‘Taylor was always an advanced thinker’, McCarthy recalled,


and was one of the earliest officials to advocate a better deal for the villager . . . He always had the dreams of the true explorer and wanted to know what was over the other side of the hills. Characteristic . . . were his great mental and physical energy, his love of the native people and his unselfishness. For instance, the whole of his salary was spent in better equipping himself and his natives for patrols.



In the Sepik, Jim heard of men in the mountains who wore wigs. What an adventure it would be to find them! But early in 1932 he was made ADO at Wau, the goldfields capital. He must wait.

He was thirty, and had been five years in New Guinea. He had patrolled uncontacted country, shown vision, organising ability, initiative and independence, and been promoted quickly. In 1931 Pacific Islands Monthly called him ‘one of the most efficient of the New Guinea officials.’ He seemed a man on the way up. Instead he sought the frontier. He explained its lure to his mother:


One thing about my life that is wonderful is the continual change. Over one hill a new valley, and then another and so on. Through great forests, over high mountains and grassy downs and across rushing rivers, meeting new people, all of similar culture but different in speech, custom and dress (or the lack of it) and different even in physical appearance. It is the human race at its very beginning as it were.



He would learn much more. From Wau he patrolled Kukukuku country again, until in September 1932 came his appointment to destiny: he was sent to open the first patrol post in the Highlands.

The Highlands were new to whites—even the name was not yet used. Lutheran evangelists first glimpsed them in 1919, prospectors in 1926, kiaps in 1929. Jim established the post at Kainantu, near prospectors washing gold. It stood in a grass valley amid a population which tended gardens so large and well-ordered that Europeans who saw them were led to re-think what defined civilisation. Land and people fired Jim’s imagination. Unveiling them absorbed the rest of his life.

At Kainantu he concentrated on bringing villages under what he called ‘pax Britannica’ or ‘pax Australiana’—he was never sure which. When Yonki men loosed a few arrows at Jim and McCarthy, Jim was aggrieved. ‘I told them not to do that’, he exclaimed, and a few days later went to remonstrate. He was attacked and his police had to shoot, killing at least three villagers. Later he learnt that Yonki people had clashed with white men not long before, and perhaps were trying to retaliate.

That exposed a fundamental dilemma. Jim came from a society convinced it should enlighten and civilise the world. It believed, as the New Guinea government anthropologist put it in 1924, that primitive people ‘must perish unless some strong controlling influence enters and regulates their lives, teaching them to . . . adopt whatever is necessary for progress.’ Yet in New Guinea Jim saw black people in little need of improvement—good, moral men and women who jusdy and sometimes violendy resented European intrusion. Should whites force their submission?

Jim accepted a common notion that civilisation would end local wars and improve health, but clearly that was no consolation to villagers shot and communities devastated in early contact. Such violence could only be defended on the undeniable but morally tenuous ground that European intrusion was inevitable. In 1932 prospectors and missionaries were ahead of Administration penetration and complaining that it advanced too slowly. Whisper of gold and souls would certainly speed their advance. Even without violence, contact meant change, and change meant painful and sometimes fatal disruption. Some Pacific communities actually seemed to be dying out from introduced diseases, labour recruiting and despair. Jim once asked his superiors whether the Highlands might be closed to outsiders. That was not possible. The best a humane kiap could do was to get there first, and shed as little blood as possible. The art of contact should be to persuade proud, self-reliant peoples to accept intrusion and disruption peaceably. ‘We decided that ours was a noble task’, Jim declared, ‘it was our duty to bring the pax Australiana’. But the world which sent out men like Jim confused power and duty with control, and expected no violence at all: shooting natives was not civilised. It demanded the impossible. Jim began to drift from that world, to leave awkward things unsaid.

His feelings were soon tested. In November 1932 Mick and Dan Leahy walked through Kainantu seeking gold and an airstrip site for New Guinea Gold-fields Ltd. Mick came from north Queensland in 1926, and in 1930 he and Mick Dwyer crossed New Guinea through unknown and difficult country, then returned and prospected the Goroka basin, new country. In April 1931 he was brained by a Kukukuku club, but was soon back chasing gold. He was tough, brave and charming, and he and Dan meant business. They found good colour at Bena Bena and began building a strip there, but on 20 November 1932 got into a fight with local people, killing between three and six men. In December they reported this to Jim.

Jim excused them, but thought shootings might be fewer if kiaps were first to contact new people. On 23 December he told Ted Taylor, his DO at Salamaua,


it is probable that this interior tableland extends . . . to the Sepik and contains a population of something like 200,000 people—none of whom are under control . . . I wish to draw attention to the rate at which prospecting is opening the country . . . [and] to suggest that either this interior . . . [be brought] under control, or that all beyond a mile west of the Purari drome [Bena] be made a super-uncontrolled area . . . and prospectors excluded . . . [Best] would be . . . to bring it all under control immediately.



That two hundred thousand people might live in the Highlands would have startled most Europeans in 1932. They presumed the interior to be unoccupied mountains. Jim would soon prove his estimate much too low. Nonetheless his letter sketched his charter of exploration, his concern for Highlanders, and his tireless advocacy of the government’s duty to contact new people before prospectors, recruiters or missionaries exploited them.

Yet with the prospecting Leahys he made his first great contact patrol. In October 1932 he got permission to explore west with ADO Nicholas Penglase. When Penglase was held up by warring Kukukuku, Jim was stranded. Mick Leahy rescued him. In February 1933 Mick, Dan and surveyor Charles Marshall reconnoitred west from Bena until they saw in the distance another wide, populous valley. They turned back, met Jim near Bena, and agreed on a joint expedition. Jim would gain the experienced companions he needed and New Guinea Goldfields would gain government co-operation in entering new country. ‘I was elated and we were all very excited . . .’, Jim recalled, ‘this was, I think, one of the happiest and most exciting times of our lives. We felt that we were taking part in some very great discoveries and looked forward to life with bounding hearts.’ The journey would make Jim and the Leahys friends for life.

Two plane flights, on 8 and 26 March, revealed the wonderland they would enter. It was, Jim said, ‘a beautiful, pale green valley with chequer-board gardens, a considerable population . . . bounded . . . by forested mountains and the valley much larger than we’d ever dreamed of’. On 28 March, Jim, Mick, Dan, surveyor Ken Spinks, seven police and seventy-two carriers left Bena for the big valley, Mick dreaming of a fabulous gold find, Jim of adventure and new people. In three weeks they walked through Simbu and along the magnificent Wahgi valley to Kelua, where they built a base camp and an airstrip. Not far west stood a massive block they named Mt Hagen, and around them lay breathtaking scenery, a temperate climate, and an awed but confident multitude ready to work or trade for European goods. No explorers had so pleasant a walk and found so much new to Europeans in so short a time.

In May-June they probed north, the Leahys testing the creeks, Jim exploring the Baiyer and Jimi valleys, the country of those strange wigmen he had heard whisper of in the Sepik. In July they climbed Mt Hagen and saw northwest the Minyamp and Lai valleys. Perhaps then was born in Jim’s mind the possibility that high valleys ran to the Dutch New Guinea border, that more wonderlands lay hidden ahead. Next Mick and Dan tested the Nebilyer valley to the south, on the way back finding good gold at Kuta, eight miles south of Kelua. They worked it on a small scale until 1953. Jim asked to stay in this paradise until the end of the year, citing important consolidation work and the value of his climbing Mt Wilhelm and other major peaks, but his DO ordered him back, and he left on 14 August.

On the way home his line was attacked often. ‘The attitude of the natives with certain exceptions was entirely different from that on our first trip through’, he told Ted Taylor,


Then they imagined us gods or spirits but on reflection they realised their mistake apparently and so a revulsion of feeling took place . . . Our peaceful behaviour they regarded as being due to us not being warriors—and to an absence of weapons. Rifles they imagined were sticks and though they saw them shoot through trees and kill pigs they still could not connect them with their conceptions of war. Day after day we encountered large numbers of hostile or contemptuous people who shouted insults at us and howled with derisive laughter when told to desist. They appeared to think that they had us in their power . . . One fellow actually brought rope to tie up his share of the loot . . .



Jim was to learn that familiarity bred contempt not because people had decided that the strangers were not spirits but because, unlike whites, they believed that spirits could be tricked or overpowered as well as placated. That a spirit was weak mattered more than that it was a spirit. Jim again confronted the fact that to explore sometimes meant to kill. He found that hard to report even to Ted Taylor; ‘Several natives were wounded or killed but as we were on the move it is impossible to say exactiy what casualties occurred . . . not . . . more than ten.’ He added a private note, ‘You know perhaps better than I do the natural antipathy of the Administration, the Commonwealth Govt & the League [of Nations] to reports of natives being shot. If you consider it the wiser policy I shall omit it’.

Ted Taylor had long contact experience. He did not conceal the shootings but defended Jim, and in September, after New Guinea Goldfields decided that Kuta would not pay, told him to close Kelua then go south on overdue leave. On returning in May 1934 Jim was offered the post of DO Bougainville, but chose to become ADO Highlands, with a ‘roving commission’. After a month in Rabaul, in July he walked to Mick’s camp at Kuta, and in August-September joined him in prospecting the Kubor range south of the Wahgi.

Jim next showed his flair as an administrator. The New Guinea service had no hope of administering the huge Highlands populations it had contacted, or of keeping ahead of prospectors and missionaries. In 1935 the Highlands had only two patrol posts, Kainantu and Simbu: Bena re-opened in 1936. Jim turned to his New Guinean police, whom he liked, trusted and believed he could restrain. The Administration had used police posts to extend its reach since about 1924, but Jim widened their role. Police would impose peace and build link ‘roads’—tracks a horseman could travel. One day each post would be a town, with a school, hospital, court, social centre, church, government labour and road depots, farm, tree nursery, mounted police station and airport. Some of the people Jim was planning for had not seen a white man. In 1934-36 he set up about fifteen posts between Bena and Hagen. Usually one policeman manned a post: ‘there is only one of you . . . you must sleep’, Jim would tell them. Each might police twenty thousand people, with orders to pacify them and set them building roads and rest houses, and to keep track of white men entering the area. To oversee his network Jim patrolled energetically, in 1934-36 walking about five thousand kilometres.

Most police were more than equal to the task he set. In 1935 he left a constable at Mogei with three rifle bullets and orders to govern. Months later he returned to find no fighting, a large swamp drained and several miles of road built. The constable marched up, saluted, and returned the bullets. Yet no policeman could hope to impose enduring peace, and some did not try. Several took sides in local wars, becoming so powerful that clans competed desperately for their alliance. They married to the relief of in-laws and the dismay of enemies. They and coastal evangelists brought more Highlanders into contact with new ways than any other agency. Jim saw police, although not evangelists, as missionaries for civilisation.

Europeans could not end fighting either. Shooting attacking warriors worked only temporarily. In the fighting seasons of 1936 and 1937 ADO Bill Kyle complained of dozens of fights along the Simbu-Bena road, of houses burnt and people killed in sight of Simbu post, and of warriors attacking his police to test whether they could kill them. In 1936 Mick Leahy considered withdrawing from Kuta because of fighting, and at Ufeto, which by mid-1937 had seen fifty patrols and had a police post for three years, people slapped their backsides at Kyle and kept fighting under the sights of his rifle. Europeans had influence, not control. They thought fighting wilful and capricious; in fact it was integral to local politics.

Despite such challenges, consolidation was not work Jim preferred. It was too like office work. He itched to explore. In June 1935 Jack Hides of Papua reported a wide valley with a big population of light-skinned people southwest of Hagen. He called it a wonderland, and said that local people called it the ‘Tari Furoro’. The news rekindled Jim’s feeling that a chain of high valleys ran to the Dutch border. Valleys meant people, adventure, strange customs, revelations, farm land, perhaps gold. On 1 and 2 February 1936 Bob Gurney flew Hides, Jim, Ivan Champion and the anthropologists F. E. Williams and Lewis Le‘It southwest from Hagen. In numerous grass valleys, huts and gardens clustered as far as they could see. Jim’s imagination soared. From that moment he schemed to get there. ‘Tari Furora’ became his shorthand for a quest to unveil the west.

In March-April 1936 he walked from Bena to Hagen and back with his director, E. W. P. Chinnery, and urged the need to explore the west before private individuals did. Senior officials were concerned at the cost of exploration—both its initial ouriay, and the permanent administrative expenses which sensibly followed. But Chinnery could see the need, and promised to consider it. Jim was delighted. ‘There is a chance but don’t mention it of a trip . . . west of Hagen but I don’t know yet’, he bubbled to Dan Leahy, ‘Trust . . . you will be back . . . fit for the “Tari Furora” or thereabouts.’ On 1 June he asked Chinnery, ‘what about the Tari Furora . . . May I do a patrol there and have a month taken from my leave. It seems a pity to let Papua have it all its own way. I am anxious to get the first moving pictures of the area. Cost to Govt would be negligible.’ But when he went on leave in December no word had come, and on 31 January 1937 he relieved John Black as ADO Wau.

Jim was sent to Wau, John observed, to


get used to dealing with Europeans again after his long sojourn among natives at Mount Hagen . . . It has made him a ‘kanaka man true’ and is not doing him any good both as regards his character and . . . his career . . . However no one can deny that he has vision especially as regards the significance of the dense populations of the Wahgi-Hagen Plateau . . . Taylor’s great idea is for an Administration party to go in first preferably under his leadership.



Jim was well on the way to understanding how New Guineans saw life. John had barely glimpsed that, let alone accepted it. His time would come. For the moment he reflected white prejudices accurately: Jim would have to bear much. In August he was banished to Manus as acting DO. ‘I’m still hoping to get back [to Hagen]’, he wrote in September 1937, ‘It is the pick of New Guinea. I always appreciated that but one realises it more than ever when one comes to dumps like this.’ His much publicised successes, his strong-willed advocacy of Highlands development despite the needs of other districts, his affection for Highlanders and his independent patrolling had earnt him service opponents.

Others were interested in what might lie west of Hagen. In 1935 two companies, Oroville Dredging and Oil Search, asked to prospect there. That October the Administrator, W. R. McNicoll, steamed up the Sepik to the Dutch border. Might it be possible, he wondered, to reach the Highlands by river? That would be cheaper, faster if something of value was found, and less dangerous. Or apparently less dangerous. After his voyage McNicoll disembarked at Madang. His ketch, Hermes, with twenty-four men, sailed into the Bismarck Sea and was never seen again.

By 1936 both Oxford University and the Royal Geographic Society were proposing expeditions west from Hagen, and on 14 July 1936 the Australian company Enterprise of New Guinea applied to prospect the ranges south of the Sepik. Chinnery opposed the application because the area was not under control, and McNicoll refused it. Enterprise applied again in December 1936 and April 1937. Each time McNicoll refused. Enterprise lobbied the Australian government. On 27 August 1937 the Minister for Territories, Sir George Pearce, asked McNicoll to consider


bringing under control the uncontrolled portion of the Sepik District, having regard specially to . . . oil prospecting . . . I do not wish any area to be thrown open until . . . it is considered safe . . . but I should like you to formulate some proposal whereby special attention might be given to concentrating upon the penetration of areas in which oil prospecting companies are likely to be interested . . .



This was essential ‘from the Imperial point of view’, Pearce explained.

It was also becoming unavoidable from the Administration point of view. From north, south and east prospectors were probing. Without Administration knowledge, in March-May 1930 the Akmana expedition went south almost to Kompiam in Enga, and in February-March 1934 Ludwig Schmidt led a party northwest from Hagen through the same area. Schmidt shot people and abandoned carriers. In chasing him, ADOs Gerry Keogh in August-October 1934 and Bill Kyle in May 1935 passed from the Lai north of Kompiam to the Maramuni. In June 1934 Mick and Dan Leahy prospected west to the Ambum valley, and in August Tom and Jack Fox followed them, returning to claim having reached the Dutch border. From Papua, between December 1926 and January 1928, Charles Karius and Ivan Champion crossed New Guinea, on the way locating Telefomin, which Richard Thurnwald had reached from the Sepik in 1914. In 1936-37 J. Ward Williams’ Oroville expedition set up a base and airstrip at Telefomin and prospected north to the May. In February-September 1937 Jack Hides and Dave Lyall prospected the upper Strickland, retreating when Lyall took ill. On 29 November 1937 Investors Ltd applied to let Hides return to the Strickland via Hagen. McNicoll refused: he had decided to mount his own patrol. Its purpose was clear in a letter Chinnery wrote on 2 October. It would explore the country between Hagen and the Dutch border, make friends with the people, and locate sites for government posts preferably with water access to the Sepik, from which prospectors entering the new country might be supervised. The last task was deleted from the patrol’s official instructions issued on 31 December, but the patrol searched for sites as though it remained.

As in 1933, profit had forced the pace. As in 1933, the kiap leading the patrol would be responsible if anyone, black or white, got lost or shot. As in 1933, that kiap would be Jim Taylor. On 2 October 1937 Chinnery told him to submit a plan for a patrol from Mt Hagen to the intersection of the Sepik and the Dutch border. It would be called the Hagen-Sepik Patrol.






2 JOHN





THE POINT IS we were there to civilise the people. Oh some went to make money and why not? If it was alright in Australia why not in New Guinea? Economic development was necessary to counter the missions. Without it you would have had a theocracy. And you had to make money in line with the Mandate—you couldn’t over-recruit an area or mistreat labour and so on. So we were there basically to bring the people into the civilised world.

Now naturally the people did not have the same objectives. Some didn’t want change. Some wanted change but only what helped them in traditional terms. They saw us as new means to gain old ends. Others went along with us to see where it would take them or because we seemed to be the new power, but even they hadn’t the same expectations we had.

Now this meant that from the outset we had to lead people to an outcome they could not see—we had to impose our opinion. We did it by displays of wealth, or displays of force. Both added up to power. We had to do it that way. Now you may ask what should we have done when we were attacked. Well what could we do? We couldn’t retreat. That would encourage people to attack the next party in, possibly with even more bloodshed because they’d be overconfident. If we couldn’t buy our way out, we had to shoot. We were agents of change. You must recognise that. If you don’t like it blame the society which sent us. The question was, for whose benefit should we bring change? That’s what you should look at.



1987. John Black sits forward intently, his long, thin hands shaping the air, his face urgent at the importance of his message. His instinct for principle is unerring, his exposition detailed and careful. He explores a subject, isolates its fundamentals, declares his conclusions. He returns again and again, checking and testing. His concentration and tenacity are astounding. Even in old age he matches clear thought and a loner’s sharp assessments with physical strength and endurance. He lives by a phrase he attributes to T. E. Lawrence: ‘the most effective men are intellectuals in action.’

His opinions echo those he held in 1938. He thought then that force, although illegal, was more effective than ‘Geneva methods’ in getting control quickly and so preventing prolonged bloodshed. ‘Every subject race . . .’, he wrote, ‘must bow to the superior race in the long run and force or fear comes into the picture somewhere. Once respect for the law is achieved the kindlier side of the law can be turned outermost.’ He agreed with Jim that people needed patient persuasion to make enduring changes, but was readier to deliver a bang on the ear to get attention first. As did all Europeans, including Jim, he felt entitled to say what changes should take place.

It is thirty-four years since he left New Guinea, but his interest in its welfare has not dimmed. He thinks his main achievement not the Hagen-Sepik Patrol but his policy work in Port Moresby in 1946–49. We have agreed to write a book on the patrol, but unlike Jim he does not trust easily, and is anxious at what readers might think of the patrol’s violence and sex, aware that if he does not co-operate they will never know. He is generous when I enlist the cause of truth, but knows that truth hides from everyone not there, that with time facts change colour. He quotes Trader Horn, who made early contact in west Africa: ‘the correctful thing in all literary books is to remember that even the truth may need suppressing if it appears out of tangent with the common man’s notion of reality.’ Horn knew what it was like, says John, to live among new peoples and see their point of view. But he wants the story told, and before his wife Dawn died in June 1986 promised her he would help tell it. He decides not to conceal facts but wants them told with understanding. Before we begin he has clarified his concerns.

John Russell Black was born at home in Stanley Street, North Adelaide, on 12 May 1908, eldest of four boys and a girl. His family called him Jack. His mother Beatrice came from a Sydney family which traced its Australian origins to 1815, his father Arthur from central Queensland pastoral pioneers driven by hard times back to Sydney. They married in Sydney about 1906, not long before Arthur’s employer, the Bank of New South Wales, transferred him to Adelaide. Both his parents, John recalled, were good people.

His clearest memory of his first school, a private academy in North Adelaide, was of being punished by having to hand-stitch hankies. About 1918 his father transferred to Port Adelaide, where John’s Le Fevre Primary teacher made him head of the class and had him draw on the blackboard tanks, armoured cars and other Great War wonders. In New Guinea his neat writing and superb draughting would be renowned. In 1919 he moved to Pulteney Street School, in 1922 to St Peter’s College. It was schooling very different from Jim’s, and for a time John would suspect Jim of envy. In 1926 he enrolled in civil engineering at Adelaide University and became a geology cadet under Douglas Mawson. He did not complete his studies, but continued to care for geology displays in the university’s Tate Museum, learning about rocks, fossils and minerals, and seeing a bottle of oil which his predecessor, E. K Stanley, sent from Papua. That gave food for thought. In 1926 also he joined 43/48 militia battalion, and by 1932 had qualified as a captain. He remembered particularly advice he got from an ex-Camelier officer: ‘If you’ve done a man a bad turn, see if you can do him a good one. He might still call you a bastard, but not a bad bastard.’

Late in 1927 John left Mawson to work his father’s farm at Mt Compass, south of Adelaide. His father thought all his sons should learn farming, and John agreed. He worked for nothing, living on rabbits mainly, whereas his three workers got £2 10s a week. John’s gain was in improving his soil and pasture. In 1930-31 he was secretary of the Mt Compass Agricultural Bureau, organising lectures from ‘the best rural brains in the state.’ But the Depression bit. In 1931 he sent a crop of apples to England and got back only a freight bill. Yet three sons wanted a place on the farm. John left.

On 15 October 1932 he saw in the paper a small notice inviting suitable ‘persons (male)’, aged twenty to twenty-four, to apply for cadetships in the New Guinea public service. John thought he’d like to be an anthropologist, and wrote asking about that. Told the ad was for cadet patrol officers, he decided that would suit, and on 19 November applied, stating that he had passed seven subjects in his school leaving exam, had an interest in boxing, school colours in rowing, Australian rules and running, a militia certificate of physical training, and was six feet two inches and thirteen stone with a forty-inch chest. He thought physical prowess would matter in New Guinea. He put his age back a year to get under twenty-four, and arranged supporting references. ‘He has shown powers of leadership and control of men’, his old headmaster wrote, while his militia commander reported, ‘He is a man with a strong sense of duty, having personality, ability, command, and is absolutely trustworthy’

Australia introduced a cadet system for Territory patrol officers in 1925. From 1926 cadets had to be single men twenty to twenty-four, with university entrance qualifications. In Rabaul they were given short courses in tropical health and hygiene, tropical products, keeping accounts, commercial law, map making and reading, and ethnology, then posted to the field. After two years they took a year’s anthropology at Sydney University, and if they passed became patrol officers. In June 1931 New Guinea requested more publicity for the cadet system in order to attract a better class of recruit, preferably from the ‘Great Public Schools’. The government intensified the university course and in October 1932 placed the small ad John saw. The Depression was a fine recruiter—1659 qualified young men applied. Ten were to be chosen.

John was interviewed in Adelaide on 9 March 1933. His interviewer reported his educational, militia and farming qualifications, added that he was a teetotaller, a good walker and bushman, and a good horseman, having recendy ridden 250 miles through the Grampians, including 96 in a day. He had a splendid manner, was well built and strong, was used to hard work and outdoor life, and was an outstanding applicant. John,was ranked second of those offered cadetships. He sailed from Sydney on Macdhui on 8 June 1933, got a few lectures in Port Moresby on native society, and arrived in Rabaul ‘effectively conditioned by the prejudices of the era . . . leavened fortunately by an exciting aura of high adventure . . . I had found my niche in life.’

He was posted to Salamaua, arrived on 22 June, and next day asked DO Ted Taylor to join the patrol to arrest ADO Ian Mack’s killers near Kainantu. Certainly not, Taylor replied, and packed him off to the native hospital to learn tropical first aid. But he noted the eager young man, and on 3 July assigned him to Keith McCarthy’s patrol into Kukukuku country to find an airstrip site. After a fortnight in New Guinea, John would follow one of the service’s ablest kiaps into new country. McCarthy was instinctively sympathetic to New Guineans. Four months earlier he had been badly wounded by arrows in the stomach and leg in a Kukukuku ambush, but returned to joke and make friends with his attackers and to observe that their military skill deserved better success. One of his police, Anis from Madang, was mortally wounded in the ambush, charging forward to save the patrol. McCarthy erected a headstone over Anis’ grave at Salamaua, and paid local people to care for it. In 1975, forty-two years later, he asked me to check that it was being maintained. He was a cheery companion, a brilliant cartoonist, a natural egalitarian. He encouraged John to probe the mask of colonialism, to see people rather than stereotypes.

In August 1933 the patrol built a strip at Menyamya, but local Kukukuku were hostile. The flat land was a battle ground, and warring clans several times straddled the camp with arrows. Once, warriors on a ridge dug under a huge boulder and sent it crashing onto the camp. The startled patrol ran, then turned to see men laughingly descending, as if to say, ‘We almost got you that time!’ On 12 September a prospector reported finding the body of a carrier. McCarthy led a search. Finding the body, his line began climbing a steep kunai hill nearby. Hidden Kukukuku showered them with arrows. McCarthy ordered retreat. An arrow hit John over the left eye, splitting the bone and jamming in his skull. He pulled it out, blood sheeting down his face, and the line withdrew down the hill, under attack the whole way. Next morning John was flown to Salamaua. He pretended to be suffering a lanced boil, but the doctor found slivers of wood in the wound and ordered him to hospital. An embarrassed Administration confronted having a cadet almost killed within three months of reaching New Guinea. After eight days in hospital, John was billed 8s 6d a day for treatment, told to stop playing Empire hero, and sent back to Menyamya until the patrol ended in October.

In November he joined PO Ken Bridge in taking home Kukukuku arrested for killing and wounding intruders, black and white, including McCarthy. He returned to Salamaua in January 1934, where on 16 February news came that prospector Bernard McGrath had been killed that day at Finintegu, in the Highlands. Unfortunately for the Finintegu, Mick and Dan Leahy chanced by half an hour later, prospectors and kiaps gathered, and in a long battle on 18 February seventeen Finintegu were killed. Ted Taylor summoned John and hurried to the scene. It transpired that during a misunderstanding McGrath had shot dead a Finintegu fight leader, Arinarifa, and was then killed. The death of a European had to be answered and, after enquiries to identify the killers, Taylor proceeded against them. In a five-hour battle on 22 February, perhaps the longest between black and white in New Guinea’s history, the Finintegu were gradually forced back. John attacked up a steep gully, and as arrows flew from the canegrass a policeman near him swatted them away with his rifle, left and right, like flies. John fired the canegrass, and late in the afternoon two old men came forward, waving tangket bushes in surrender. Many clansmen lay dead—nineteen according to Taylor’s report, about fifty in Finintegu memory. Taylor later came under pressure from people in Australia for not acting more aggressively.

After this tragedy John stayed at Finintegu to re-establish good relations. His year there secured him a reputation for sound policy enunciation and effective action. For example, his DO wrote that one of his reports was ‘most comprehensive and shows with remarkable clearness almost every phase of patrol officers’ work in new areas’. Canberra commended three of his 1934 reports.

John expected the Finintegu fight to impose peace. Like Trader Horn, he believed that such batdes ‘put an end to the small rows which were continually occurring and were often accompanied by fatalities.’ Yet his first months found him battling to end tribal disputes and be accepted as a peaceful but powerful arbitrator. On 8 April he made a night raid on Arkafintegu village to arrest fighters, and in the melee three villagers were killed and four wounded. That was far short of effecting enduring change. With more hope, he paid tribal enemies salt, shell and beads to work at his camp together, and brought boys, including enemies, into a school under a police constable to learn pidgin, grow new vegetables, do odd jobs for pay, and learn of the outside world so that they might be missionaries for civilisation when they went home. By mid-year over thirty boys were at the school and graduates were translating and explaining what whites wanted. In July John put a glass window in his house, and brought a horse in. These wonders were capped in November, when a medical patrol gave injections against yaws, a disease recently arrived from the coast, and caused huge ulcers to vanish in three days. It seemed like progress, but in September John discovered police and villagers with venereal disease and noted despairingly, ‘this sort of thing spoils ones hopes about the white mans influence in this country. It would be better one thinks at times if he left the natives alone.’ And whenever John went away, fighting broke out again. An absent arbitrator offered no solutions to local political problems.

On 22 July 1934 Jim arrived on route for Mt Hagen, and the two met for the first time. For two days they walked west with CPO Murray Edwards, one of John’s line. Jim invited John to meet him in Simbu so they could walk back together, and on 22 September John did so. He was respectful, in his diary referring to ‘Mr Taylor’, but clearly the two took each other’s measure. Four months later they combined under much more trying circumstances.

On 16 December 1934, Arawa people killed Father Charles Morschheuser near Womkama in Simbu. On 26 December Father Alfons Schafer visited Womkama, a fight broke out, and three Arawa were killed. On 7 January 1935 Brother Eugene Frank was mortally wounded at nearby Gorime, lay eight days in agony being cared for by neighbouring people, and died in Salamaua four days after Jim rescued him. Jim had reached Gorime on 11 January, and on the 21st John was ordered from Finintegu to help him. He reached Simbu on 5 February, heard an account of Eugene’s death from ADO Alan Roberts, and prompdy concluded, ‘There is not the slightest shadow of doubt that if Bro Eugene had taken a firm stand and shot only one or two men it would never have occurred.’ Jim agreed. His official report stated, ‘If the hostility is dealt with firmly and resolutely in the beginning, there may be no further trouble, but if allowed to go unpunished, it will probably end in disaster’. Firm dealing did not always secure peace: in December 1936 Bill Kyle reported extensive fighting among the Arawa. And Morschheuser had shot Arawa pigs in retaliation for their burning a mission house. But who was right mattered less than who was killed.

With Dan Leahy, John walked to Gorime, and on 7 February found Jim trying to impose quiet while doing enough to placate the outcry in Australia. Where there was no government, his report was to say, ‘the native will settle his disputes with arms . . . we in Australia would probably do the same.’ At Gorime the talk turned to missions. Neither Jim nor Dan favoured them. John recorded how eagerly the men of peace distanced themselves from kiaps but how quickly they called on government guns in a crisis. He heard that a native evangelist had forced a convert to eat pig excreta for adultery, but that evangelists had ‘the best house, the best pigs and fowls and the best cared for children and very often too the run of the women of the village.’ Jim’s report took the risk of suggesting that missionaries adopt a ‘more sympathetic attitude to “new people” and one more consistent with our ideals.’

John thought Jim and Dan ‘very likeable chaps . . . Taylor has a lot of knowledge . . . The picturesque side of a particular character too impresses him, also the humorous but it is apt to distort his judgement to a slight extent . . . The colourful takes precedence over staid commonplace reality which means he has not quite a balanced out look.’ But Jim measured John accurately: when a superior remarked that John would be Administrator one day, Jim promptly replied, ‘In that case don’t keep trying to hold him back.’

On 8 February Jim, Dan and most of the police left to arrest Morschheuser’s killers. On the 12th they returned with forty prisoners, but to keep them had had to fight off an ambush, and ‘a lot’ of warriors were killed. ‘I got the job’, John noted, ‘of stitching up all the head wounds of the prisoners where they had been dominoed by rifle butts pieces of wood and judging by the wounds knives and tomahawks. The natives were induced to come to the camp . . . Then they were grabbed. It seems treacherous but it was really kind.’ By mid-March Jim had arrested fifty more men, fought off an attack, and taken sixty-seven prisoners to Salamaua for trial.

On 17 February another world called John to Sydney University. In two years he had been shot in the head, fought at least four battles and escaped two ambushes, run a large area and influenced policy. Now he was sent to study. He set out with a small party, and at Pari was ambushed by lines of Simbu’s fighting trios, a shield bearer/pikeman and two bowmen. One line blocked the track behind, another advanced down a hill in front. ‘It was an impressive sight’, John wrote, ‘to see and hear the painted and chanting warriors approaching . . . in all their impressive panoply of war.’ His party had almost no ammunition, but Constable Aum charged the hill with the bayonet, and the warriors fled. Some—John could not say how many—were killed. John believed that on this and other occasions Aum deserved a Victoria Cross. Jim agreed, but in October still gaoled Aum and eight other police for rape.

The university course was co-ordinated by the anthropology department, and comprised six lectures a week in social anthropology, classes in native administration, tropical medicine and hygiene, a little law, and surveying and mapping for those deemed to need it. The course was reduced to two terms, and no cadet worked hard—Sydney offered much to young men in from the bush—but in August 1935 their professor reported Very favourably’ on their deportment and application. John was fourth of seven cadets.

By late October he was back at Salamaua, and between 11 November and 29 January 1936 collected taxes. Canberra praised his report, the Minister noting that his remarks on roads, missions and education ‘should be of great value to the Administrator in determining policy’. In February John mapped Jim’s flights with Hides over the Tari Furora, then until May “taxed” the Markham, taking the chance to walk southwest into new country on the Waffer and Lamari headwaters. Again the Minister commended his report as


constructive and thought provoking and suggests that this Patrol Officer has a strong sense of the importance and responsibility of his work . . . [It] must be of great service to the Administration as a guide to policy . . . In particular the pages dealing with development, missions, education, medical, and labour problems struck me as most practical and far seeing.



At Kaiapit on this patrol John helped hang publicly a man convicted of murder by sorcery. The man died bravely and unshaken in his faith in his powers. John wondered briefly whether force could change belief where persuasion and example could not, but he now believed in a ‘native underworld’, a maze of values and opinions which New Guineans deliberately hid from Europeans in an attempt to avoid or mitigate the arbitrariness of colonial rule. The best kiaps were those able to understand ‘the native mind’ by penetrating this underworld. Then, John believed, policy could be implemented effectively. Not for years would he accept what McCarthy grasped instinctively, that often it was the European mind which most needed opening. When he did realise that, the sorcerer’s execution troubled him greatly.

In May–June 1936 he walked from Salamaua to Bena and back, writing yet another report which won praise: Canberra said it was Of great service . . . as a guide to policy and administration . . . most practical and far seeing’. In June–July he led a census patrol north of Lae, taking the chance to explore new country in the Cromwell range. In 1943 local people told coastwatchers dodging Japanese in that range that John was the only white they had seen. From mid-July he acted as ADO Wau until Jim relieved him on 31 January 1937. He was not content at this time, enquiring about jobs outside New Guinea. His discontent had crystallised at PO Tom Hough’s slow, painful death from an arrow in the lungs on 20 December 1936, aged twenty-three. ‘All for £300 a year’, Tom had said. John, Kyle, Edwards, Cedric Croft and other kiaps stewed at how little they were paid and how much restricted. They were mindful of the treatment of Allart Nurton, an ADO with much first contact experience, who was attacked with machetes on the Rai coast on 24 September 1936, had his left leg amputated, and was paying his own medical expenses.

In Wau John wrote a petition, and on 3 January 1937 flew to Lae to present it to the Administrator, W. R McNicoll. It argued for re-classifying the service to give kiaps better pay and conditions and increase their policy input. Current practice, it stated, was simply that inherited from the Germans, and related largely to contact rather than native administration as a whole. Policy making had to be more comprehensive, along British colonial lines. McNicoll gave the petition a quick glance and put it aside, saying he would respond later. John flushed with anger. ‘I’m afraid I’ve wasted my time, sir’, he snapped. McNicoll swung round, surprised, took the petition, and read it carefully. I’ll talk to Canberra, he said. In 1938 some changes the petition sought were implemented. John walked back to Wau, then to Otibanda in Kukukuku country as acting ADO, then in March to act as ADO Salamaua until he went on leave in September. These walks totalled eight hundred kilometres, but John remembered them as marking the quietest period of his New Guinea service. It was not to last.

On 1 April 1937 Ted Taylor warned him that he might be sent to put in a base camp at Mt Hagen. ‘This may be a unique opportunity to get on a good exploration trip between say Hagen and the Dutch border’, John noted. On 6 October Chinnery wrote telling him he was to be second-in-command of the Hagen–Sepik Patrol, and suggesting he brush up his wireless and field-survey work. At the same time Murray Edwards would open a post at Hagen and ‘proceed cautiously with consolidation work’. The news lifted John ‘like sun after rain.’ ‘It appears that mining interests . . . have forced the issue’, he reflected, but it was good to be with Taylor, ‘the visionary, the idealist’, and to be ‘opening up one of the last remaining unexplored areas of the globe’s surface. I approach the task ahead not as the adventure crazed youth on his first trip into the unknown, but rather as a tried man starting out on the great task of his life.’ Whereas once he was ignorant, he was saying, now he knew what was what. It was a claim he would repeat.
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